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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Board of Directors of Unisound AI Technology Co., Ltd.

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Unisound Al Technology Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 4 to 87, comprise:

e  the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024;

o the company statements of financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024;

e  the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024 (the “Relevant Periods”);

o _ the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the Relevant Periods;
e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the Relevant Periods; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 and the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the Relevant Periods in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS Accounting
Standards™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs™). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong SAR, China
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

e  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Restriction on Distribution and Use

The consolidated financial statements are prepared for the purpose of the preparation of historical financial
information for inclusion in the prospectus of the Company in connection with the initial public offering of H
Shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the
consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the
board of directors of the Company and should not be distributed to or used by any other parties for any purpose.

.
PricewaterhouseCoo
Certified Public Accountais

Hong Kong, 20 June 2025



Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMEB’000 RMB’000
Revenue ' 6 600,619 727,316 939,017
Cost of sales and services 9 (360,732) (432,808) (574,537
Gross profit 239,887 294,508 364,480
Operating expenses:
Selling and marketing expenses 9 (46,086} (58,810) (70,705)
Administrative expenses g9 (48,420) {65,020) (64,105}
Research and development expenses 9 (287,000) (286,301) (370,073}
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets 3 (71,976) (91,346} (48,438)
Other income 7 15,746 36,313 17,077
Other (losses)/gains - net 8 (1,363) 10,579 {13,964)
Total operating expenses (439,198) {454,585) {550,208)
Finance income 314 1,875 2,298
Finance costs (177,675) (212,770) (270,943)
Finance costs - net 11 (177,361) (210,895) (268,645)
Share of profit/(loss) from investments accounted for using the
equity method 13 1,092 (2,617) -
Loss before income tax (375.580) (373,589) (454,373)
Income tax credit/ (expense) ' 14 189 (2,655) 162
Loss for the year (375,391) _(376,244) (454,211)
Loss is attributable to:
Owners of the Company (366,012) (375,461) (452.364)
Non-controlling interests (9,379) (783) {1,847)
(375,391) (376,244) (454,211)
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences ‘ 85 294 60
Total other comprehensive income for the year net of tax 85 204 60
Total comprehensive loss for the year (375,306) (375,950) (454,151)
Total comprehensive loss for the year is attributable to:
Owners of the Company ' (365,927) (375,167) (452,304)
Non-controlling interests (9,379) (783) (1,847}
(375,306) (375,950) (454,151)
Loss per share attributable to owners of the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB} 15 (5.75) (5.57) (6.52)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



Consolidated Balance Sheets

Assets

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred income tax assets

Investments accounted for using the equity method
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial lease receivables

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets:

Inventories

Contract assets

Trade receivables

Prepayments and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial lease receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity/(deficit)

Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital
Treasury stock
Reserves
Accumulated deficit

Non-controlling interests
Total deficit

Notes

16
17
18
34
13
25
21
19

24

23
22
25
21
26
26

27
28
28
29

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

14,533 19,160 28,081

12,422 8,645 10,385

560 498 8,701

399 53 295

2,617 - -

21,680 30,588 24,347

670 - 3,725

- 47,393 47,393

52,881 106,337 123,017

33,614 67.853 140,292

3,908 4,123 4,969

368,860 411,053 559,242

32,170 66,256 89,530

- 69,010 -

3,293 750 2,909

74,118 379,224 156,476

- - 3,541

515,963 598,269 956,959

568,844 1,104,606 1,079,976

63,648 69,392 69,392
(1,841,637} (2,563,637) (2,563,637)

1,544,548 2,245,640 2,245,700
(1,657,418) (2,032,879) (2,485,243)
(1,890,859) (2,281,484) (2,733,788)
(20,379) (17,273) (19,120)
{1,911,238) (2,298,757) (2,752,908)




Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities

Redemption liabilities

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Salary and welfare payable

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities
Net current assets

Total liabilities and deficit

As at December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’oo00

17 4,372 4,685 7,583
30 2,108,990 3,038,456 3,303,051
36 45,033 26,434 29,625
2,158,395 3,069,575 3,340,259

33 192,782 181,455 232,895
6 55,877 64,804 86,265
35 22,066 15,233 15,052
37 35,000 65,000 145,378
31 667 2,383 2,370
17 14,395 4,913 10,665
321,687 333,788 492,625

2,480,082 3,403,363 3,832,884

194,276 664,481 464,334

568,844 1,104,606 1,079,976

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 J

" il
Director

e

Director

e 2025 and were signed on its behalf:



Balance Sheets of the Company

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Intangible assets

Deferred income tax assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Amounts due from subsidiaries, non-current
Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Contract assets

Trade receivables

Prepayments and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted Cash

Total current assets

Total assets

Equity/(deficit)

Equity/(deficit) attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital
Treasury stock
Reserves
Accumulated deficit
Total deficit

Notes

16
17
18

12(h)
25
22(b)

23
22(a)
25
26
26

27
28
28

29

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB'o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000

4,799 9,852 10,130

4,423 341 4,868

331 400 237

111 - -

230,383 586,883 592,783

21,680 30,588, 22,007

442,859 526,106 611,549

704,586 1,154,170 1,241,664

1,955 8,355 7,695

2,596 1,918 1,030

78,944 96,657 114,639

15,032 28,058 27,839

- 10,010 -

31,973 84,608 12,213

- - 590

130,500' 229,606 164,006

835,086 1,383,776 1,405,670

63,648 69,392 69,392
(1,841,637) (2,563,637) (2,563,637)

1,535,289 2,234,805 2,234,805
(1,197,818) {1,521,427) (1,938,566)
(1,440,518) {1,780,867) (2,198,006)




Balance Sheets of the Company (continued)

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Redemption liabilities

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Contract liabilities

Salary and welfare payable

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Lease liabilities

Total current liabilities

Total liabilities
Net current (liabilities)/assets

Total liabilities and deficit

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The balance sheets of the Company were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 J

E1.2

o

Director

As at December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’oo00 RMB’o00
30 2,108,990 3,038,456 3,303,051
36 23,657 10,158 13,975
2,132,647 3,048,614 3,317,026
33 81,226 60,533 178,708
6 7,058 20,688 23,558
35 13,843 7,425 7,634
37 35,000 25,000 70,000
667 2,383 2,370
17 5,163 % 4,380
142,957 116,029 286,650
2,275,604 3,164,643 3,603,676

(12,457) 113,577 (122,644)
835,086 1,383,776 1,405,670

A/

Director

2025 and were signed on its behalf:
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations

Interest received

Income tax paid

Addition of restricted cash

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Proceeds from investments in financial assets at fair value through
‘profit or loss

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

Prepayments for property, plant and equipment

Payments for acquisition of non-controlling interests

Net cash generated from/(uscd in) investing activitics

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issnance of equity interests to Series D2 investors
Proceeds from issnance of equity interests to Series D3 investors
Payments of issuance costs for equity financing of Series D2
Payments of issuance costs for equity financing of Series D3
Capital injection from non-controlling interests

Proceeds from borrowing from sales and leaseback

Repayment of borrowing from sales and leaseback

Proceeds from bank borrowings

Repayment of bank borrowings

Interest paid for bank borrowings

Interest paid for borrowing from sales and leaseback

Payments of lease liabilities

Net cash generated from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

Year ended December 31,

Notes 2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
40 (165,941} (284,666) (316,778)
314 1,875 2,298
- (1,324) {957}
- - (3,541)
(165,627) (284,115) (318,978)
3.3(iii) {88,900} (803,010) (82,250)
3.3(iii) 170,754 737,110 150,006
(1,317) (14,962) (32,887)
38 - (47,393} -
- {480} -
80,537 (128,735) 34,869
30 10,000 - -
30 - 722,000 -
(291) - -
- (19,515) -
- 3,500 -
- 12,000 -
- (11,000} (1,000)
35,000 74,394 195,378
(4,000) (44,394) (115,000)
(301) (2,837) (5,034)
- (386) (5)
17 (10,858) (15,787) {12,956)
29,550 717,975 61,383
(55,540) 305,125 (222,726)
26 129,650 74,118 379,224
8 (19) (22)
26 74,118 379,224 156,476

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

12 -
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2.,1.1
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

NOTES TO THE HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION
General information

Beijing Yunzhisheng Information Technology Co., Ltd. (At R E B E B HHTFR A7), the “Predecessor Company”)
was incorporated in Beijing, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC™) on June 11, 2012 as a limited liability
company. The Predecessor Company was jointly founded by Liang Jiaen and Kang Heng (referred to as the
“Founding Shareholders™). In June 2019, the Predecessor Company was converted into a joint stock company with
limited liability under the Company Law of the PRC and was renamed as Unisound AI Technology Co., Ltd. (Z5n%%
2 RER T Ak R & 7], the “Company”). The registered office of the Company is No. 101, 1st Floor, Building 1,
Xisangi Building Materials City, Haidian District, Beijing, the PRC.

The Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are primarily engaged in the
sales of artificial intelligence (“AI") products and Al solutions.

Summary of accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the Historical Financial Information are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied throughout the Track Record Period, unless otherwise stated.

Material accounting policies
Basis of preparation
Compliance with IFRS

The Historical Financial Information of the Group has been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the IASB ("IFRS Accounting Standards™).

The preparation of Historical Financial Information in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies, The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas

where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Historical Financial Information are disclosed in note 4.

All relevant standards, amendments and interpretations to the existing standards that are effective during the Track
Record Period have been adopted by the Group consistently throughout the Track Record Period.

Historical cost convention

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets
and liabilities measured at fair value. >

New and amended standards adopted by the group

The group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for its annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2024:

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Non-current liabilities with covenants —
Amendments to [AS 1;

Lease Liability in Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16; and

Supplier Finance Arrangements — Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7.

The amendments listed above did not have any material impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods and are
not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

New/amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted

The Group has not early applied the {ollowing new/amended amendments to IFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

_13_



2.1

2.1.1

(i)

()]

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

Material accounting policies (continued)

- Basis of preparation (continued)

New/amended standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to IAS 21 - Lack of Exchangeability ‘ January 1, 2025
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 - Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments January 1, 2026
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures January 1, 2027
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements January 1, 2027

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, introducing new requirements that will help to
achieve comparability of the financial performance of similar entities and provide more relevant information and
transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or measurement of items in the financial
statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are expected to be pervasive, in particular those related to
the statement of financial performance and providing management-defined performance measures within the
financial statements. Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of applying the new standard on
the group’s consolidated financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the implication of applying IFRS 18, and preliminarily identified the fair value
gains/(losses) on financial assets currently presented in the line item ‘Other (losses)/gains - net’ within operating
profit would be presented below operating profit, and certain additional disclosures would be added, other than
that, there would not be significant impact on the group’s financial position and performance when adopting IFRS
18,

Except for the impact of IFRS 18 above, other new/amended standards are either not relevant to the Group or not
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements when they become effective.

Going concern

The Group’s net liabilities were approximately RMB1,911.2 million, RMB2,298.8 million and RMB2,752.gmillion
on December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively. These net liabilities were mainly due to the redemption rights
granted to investors in financing of Series Angel, A, B, B+, C, C+, C3, D, D+, D1, D2 and D3 (the “Investors”) for
which the Group recorded redempticn liabilities with carry values of RMB2,109.0 million, RMB3,038.5 million and
RMB3,303.1 million on December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively (note 30(i)).

According to the investment agreements, the Investors agreed that all the preferred rights including redemption
rights granted shall be irretrievably terminated upon the Company achieving QIPO. Please refer to note 30(i) for the
relevant agreements for termination and reinstatement of the preferred rights. In any situation, the preferred rights
and related liabilities will not have a cash flow impact to the Group in the next twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and taking into account the available financial resources, including
cash and cash equivalents, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet in full its financial obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve months from the
end of the reporting period and accordingly, the Historical Financial Information has been prepared on a going
concern basis.

The Historical Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies as set outinnote
2,
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2.1.3

2.1.4

2.1.5

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Material accounting policies (continued)
Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services provided in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognized initially at the armount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognized at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortized cost
using the effective interest method. See note 3.1 for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

Share capital and treasury stock

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases its equity instruments, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the owners of the
Company as treasury stock until the shares are canceled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued,
any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, is included in equity atiributable to the owners of the Company.

Treasury stock is recorded to reflect the carrying amount of the redemption liabilities when it is initially reclassified
from equity and will be reversed back to equity when the redemption liabilities are derecognized upon the Group’s
obligations in connection with those redemption liabilities are discharged, canceled or expired.

Redemption liabilities

A contract that contains an obligation to purchase the Company’s equity instruments for cash or another financial
asset gives rise to a financial liability for the present value of the redemption amount, even if the Company’s
obligations to purchase is conditional on the counterparty exercising a right to redeem. The Company undertakes
such redemption obligations as certain preferred rights are granted to the Investors in the Company’s financing
process, such redemption obligation is recognized as financial liability initially at the present value of the redemption
amount and subsequently measured at amortized cost with interest charged in finance costs.

The Group derecognizes redemption liabilities when, and only when, the redemption obligations are discharged,
canceled or expired. The carrying amount of the redemption liabilities derecognized is then credited into equity.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Investors were granted with preferred rights, such as an “anti-dilution right”, pursuant to which the Investors
have a right to require: (1) the Founding Shareholders to transfer the equity interests of the Company they directly
or indirectly held to the Investors at the lowest price allowed by law; or (2) the Company to issue new shares for
nominal consideration to the Investors; or {3) the Company or Founding Shareholders to compensate the Investors
in cash. The specific method shall be selected and determined by the Investors, and the Company and its Founding
Shareholders shall be liable for this jointly and severally. The anti-dilution right is out of the control of the Company.

Any anti-dilution right granted is bifurcated and accounted for within financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss. It is initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at fair value with fair value changes recognized
in “Cther (losses)/gains - net” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. The financial liabilities are
classified as non-current liabilities unless the Company has an obligation to settle the liabilities within 12 months
after the end of the reporting period.

The Company derecognizes such financial liabilities when, and only when, the Company’s obligations are

discharged, canceled or have expired. The carrying amount of the financial liabilities derecognized is then credited
inte equity.
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2.1

2.1.6

€7

€

(iii)

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Material accounting policies (continued)
Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates certain share incentive plans, under which it receives services from employees as consideration
for equity instruments (“options”) of the Group. The fair value of services received in exchange for the grant of equity
instruments is recognized as an expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income with a
corresponding increase in equity. '

In terms of the options awarded to employees, the total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted:

» including any market performance conditions;
»  excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions; and
+ including the impact of any non-vesting conditions,

Service and non-marketing performance vesting conditions are included in the ecalculation of the number of options
that are expected to vest. The total amount expensed is recognized over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. Atthe end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the service conditions and non-marketing
vesting performance conditions. It recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In some circumstances, employees may provide services in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date
fair value is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during the period between service commencement
date and grant date.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognized in reserves will continue to be held in reserves.

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value on the grant date, with a corresponding
recognition of liability. The liability is re-measured at each reporting date up to and at the date of settlement, with
any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Modifications

Where the terms of the share-based payment plan are modified, the expense that is not yet recognized for the award
is recognized over the remaining vesting period as if the terms had not been modified.

If a modification increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted, the incremental fair value granted is
included in the measurement of the amount recognized for the services received over the remainder of the vesting
period. The incremental fair value is the difference between the fair value of the modified equity instrument and
that of the original equity instrument, both estimated as at the date of the modification.

If the Group modifies the terms or conditions of its equity instruments granted in a manner that reduces the total
fair value of the share-based payment arrangement, or is not otherwise beneficial to the employee, the Group shall
nevertheless continue to account for the services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted as if
that modification had not occurred.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when, or as, the control of goods or services is transferred to the customers. Depending on
the terms of the contracts and the laws applicable, contrel of the goods and services may be transferred over time or
at a point in time.

Control of the goods and services is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

¢ provides all the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customers;

s  creates or enhances an asset that the customers control as the Group performs; or

* doesnot create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforeeable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods and services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods and services.

Contracts with customers may include multiple performance obligations. For such arrangements, the Group
allocates revenue to each performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling price. The Group generally
determines standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers. If the standalone selling price is not
directly observable, it is estimated using expected cost plus a margin approach or residual approach, depending on
the availability of observable information. Assumptions and estimations have been made in estimating the relative
selling price of each distinct performance obligation, and changes in judgements on these assumptions and
estimates may impact the revenue recognition.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods and services that the Group has
transferred to a customer. A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A
right to consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers a good or service to the customers, the Group presents the contract as a contract liability when
the payment is made, or the receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligatien
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customers.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net -
of returns, trade allowances and amounts collected on behalf of third parties, In those agreements where the
transaction period between the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year, revenue is measured at transaction prices adjusted for the time value of money. The
variable consideration is estimated by applying the most likely amount method,

Determining whether revenue of the Group should be reported gross, or net is based on a continuing assessment of
various factors. When determining whether the Group is acting as the principal or agent in offering goods or services
to the customer, the Group first identifies who controls the specified goods or services before they are transferred to
the customer. The Group follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations to assess whether the
Group controls the specified goods or service before it is transferred to the customer, the indicators of which include
but are not limited to (a) whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified
service; (b) whether the entity has inventory risk before the specified service has been transferred to a customer;
and (¢) whether the entity has discretion in establishing the prices for the specified goods or service. The
management considers the above factors in totality, as none of the factors individually are considered presumptive
or determinative and applies judgement when assessing the indicators depending on each different circumstance.
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2.1.8

&

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Material accounting policies {(continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The Group categorises its revenue based on different application scenarios, 1.e., Daily life and Healthcare.
Daily life

Revenue from goods and services used for-residential, commercial spaces or transportation purpose is categorised
under Daily life. For Al solutions, c. For Al products, revenue is recognized at a point in time when the Al products
are delivered to the customer’s designated place, accepted by the customer. For certain Al platform services that are
provided during a period, such as speaking evaluation services, revenue is recognized over time.

Healthcare

Revenue from audio medical transeription solutions, Al in medical record quality management solutions and other
AT empowered medical solutions to medical institutions is categorised under Healthcare. Revenue is recognized
upen customer acceptance after the system is launched and a trial run is completed.

The Group has analysed the nature of goods and services included in each of the contracts to assess whether there
are different performance obligations as below:

The Group provides standalone Al products, such as Al software, software-embedded hardware, and Al platform
services separately, in which cases revenue is recognized separately. The Group also provides Al solutions which are
an integration of Al software, hardware, infrastructure and technology services. These components are assessed by
management to be highly interdependent and interrelated, and therefore they are accounted for as a single
performance obligation. Cloud services in certain Al solutions and certain Al products are accounted for as a
separate performance obligation and revenue are recognized over the period of cloud services committed.

Warranties provided for these Al solutions and Al products are normally for periods within 2 years and are regarded
as assurance-type warranties, while any extension of warranties extended for periods normally beyond two years
are regarded as service-type warranties. The assurance-type warranties are accounted for in accordance with note
“2,2.15 Provisions”, and the service-type warranties are accounted for as a separate performance obligation and the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on the standalone selling prices.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease at inception of a contract. Tt recognizes right-of-use

‘assets and corresponding lease liabilities with respect to all lease contracts in which it is the lessee, except for short-

term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets, at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

As lessee

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract
1o the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the following lease payments:

» fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,

s  variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date,

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees,

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments
of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
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2.1.8

(i)

(i)

(i)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)
As lessee (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar
value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each

period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
any initial direct costs, and

restoration costs.

L N

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset
and recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are
included in the balance sheet based on their nature.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss.

As lessor

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee, If this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

Sublease

In a sublease where the Company is both a lessee and a lessor for the same underlying asset, the Company separately
accounts for the head lease and sublease unless it is relieved of its primary obligation under the head lease.

The Company firstly determines the classification of the sublease based on the underlying asset.

For a sublease classified as a financial lease, the Company derecognizes the right-of-use asset and recognizes the net
investment in the sublease. Finance income on the sublease and interest expense on the head lease are recognized
in the other (losses)/gains — net and finance costs respectively.

For a sublease classified as an operating lease, the Company retains the right-of-use asset, recognizes a depreciation
charge for the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease liability, and recognizes lease income from the sublease.
Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognized in revenue on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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2.2,1

)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Summary of accounting policies {continued)
Other accounting policies

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity where the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive loss, statements of changes in equity/(deficit) and balance sheets respectively,

Assaciates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is
generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iii) below), after initially being recognized at cost.

Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends
received or receivable from associates are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in these entities. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in note 2.2.4.

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment hecause of a loss of control, or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognized in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by the applicable IFRS Accounting Standards. -
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2.2.3

2,2.4

2,25

(i)

(W

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting pelicies (continued)
Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segment is reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM™). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources, assessing performance of the
operating seginent, has been identified as the chief executive officer of the Group.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have a definite useful life are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject
to amortization and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that they might be impaired. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Investments and other financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

¢ thosetobe measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income {'OCI’) or through
profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCL For investments
in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from

the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

=21 =



2.2

2.2.5

GiiD)

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

Other accounting policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the

financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset and

the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

e Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in “other gains/(losses) — net” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of
comprehensive income.

»  FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI, Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest
income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognized in profit or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognized, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognized in “other gains/(losses) — net”. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
“finance income” using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
“other gains/(losses) - net” and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the consolidated
income statements.

* FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortized cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognized in profit or loss and presented net within
“other gains/(losses) - net” in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Greup subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value, Where the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the Group's right to receive payments
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognized in profit or loss and presented within “other
gains/(losses) - net” in the statement of comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.
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2.2.5

(iv)

2,2.6

Summary of accouhting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued)
Investinents and other finaneial assets (continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis for the expected credit losses on financial assets (including trade
receivables, other receivables, lease receivables, and cash and cash equivalent), which is subject to impairment
under IFRS 9. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk,

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS ¢, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables, see note 3.1 (b) and note 23 for details.

For other financial assets, it is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit loss,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet where the Company
currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptey of the Group or the counterparty.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labor and
an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of
normal operating capacity. Cost of direct material is determined on weighted average basis. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale,

For contract fulfillment cost, it mainly comprises direct hardware and software costs, as well as direct labor cost
incurred while delivering the AT solutions to the customers. The contract fulfillment cost is recognized as assets and
presented in inventory only if those costs meet all of the following criteria:

- the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify;

- the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

- the costs are expected to be recovered.

The contract fulfillment cost recognized will be transferred directly to profit or loss at the time that related
revenue of Al solutions is recognized,

The Group recognizes an impairment loss in profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of contract
fulfillment cost recognized exceeds:

- the remaining amount of consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for the services to which

the asset relates; less
- the costs that relate directly to providing those services and that have not been recognized as expenses.
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2,2.11

Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued)
Prepayments and other receivables

Prepayments and other receivables comprise mainly upfront payments made to suppliers, deductible value-added
tax (“VAT”), deposits and others.

Prepayments to suppliers for services will be subsequently recorded in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income in accordance with the applicable performance requirements within one year or less and
therefore are all classified as current assets.

Prepayments to suppliers due for transfer to property, plant and equipment are classified as other non-current
assets.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
orless that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value,

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the
establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down oceurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates,

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated balance sheets when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, canceled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued)
Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to an acquisition, construction or preduction of a
qualifying asset are capitalized during the period that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period to get ready for their intended use
or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings, pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets, is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Income tax

The income tax comprises current and deferred income tax. The income tax expense or credit for the period is
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the income tax is also recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate
taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities,

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
income tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, Deferred income tax is
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized, or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize
those temporary differences and losses.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred income tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current
income tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends
either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2.2.15

Summary of accounting policies (continued)

Other accounting policies (continued) ' . 4
Employee benefits

Pension obligations, housing funds and other social tbe{fare benefits

Full-time employees of the Group in the mainland China are entitled to staff welfare benefits including pension,
work-related injury benefits, maternity insurances, medical insurances, unemployment benefits and housing fund
plans through a PRC government-mandated defined contribution plan. Chinese labor regulation requires that the
Group make contributions to the government for these benefits based on certain percentage of the employees’
salaries, up to a maximum amount specified by the local government. The Group has no legal obligation for the
benefits beyond the required contributions., Under these plans, the Group contributes on a monthly basis and
expensed as incurred. The Group has no further payment obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the:
required contributions.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonuses is recognized as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation
for payment of bonus as a result of services rendered by émployees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 1 year and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when they are settled.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date,
or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes
termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and
involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value,

Employees leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
Employee entittements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until the time of leave,

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a
pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense,
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued) -
Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant.
will be received, and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses items are deferred and recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income over the period necessary to match them with the expenses that they are intended to
compensate.

Government grants relating to properiy and equipment, and other non-current assets are included in liabilities and
are credited to comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the net fair value gains/(losses) on these assets. Interest
income from financial assets at amortized cost and financial assets at FVOCI calculated using the effective interest
method is recognized in profit or loss as part of other income. Interest income from current deposits is included in
finance income. '

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

Loss per share

Basic loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing:

e the loss attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other ;chan ordinary
shares, )

¢ by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted loss per share
Diluted loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic loss per share to take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and

»  the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (if
any). Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is
derecognized when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting
period in which they are incurred.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

e Electronic equipment 3 years
e  Office furniture 3-5 years
*  Leasehold improvement Shorter of remaining lease term or 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 2.2.4).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized in
other (losses)/gains — net in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Intangible assets -

Softwware

Acquired software is initially capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire. Costs associated with
maintaining computer software programs are recognized as an expense when incurred. Software is stated at
historical cost less accumnulated amortisation and impairment losses (if any).

The Group amortizes software with a limited useful life using the straight-line method over 1-10 years. The
amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at each reporting period. The effects of any revision are
recognized as profit or loss when the changes arise,

Research and development

Research expenditure is recognized as expense when incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to
the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized as
intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

o itistechnically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use,

» management intends to complete the software and use or sell it,

¢ there is an ability to use or sell the software,

¢ it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits,

e adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the software
are available, and

» the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

During the Track Record Period, there were no internally generated development costs that met the criteria listed
above and capitalized as intangible assets.
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Summary of accounting policies (continued)
Other accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). Functional currency of the
Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in mainland China is Renminbi (“RMB”). Functional currency of the
Company’s subsidiary in Hong Kong is US Dollar (“USD"). As the major operations of the Group are within the
mainland China, the Group determined to present the Historical Financial Information in RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognized in profit or loss, except when deferred in equity if they are attributable to part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, .

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the statement of comprehensive
income, within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income on a net basis within “other (losses)/gains - net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carrled at fair value are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

+  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet.

s income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income are translated
at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions), and

+ all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are
recognized in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the
net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gam or
loss on sale.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the consolidated financial
statermnents in the year in whlch the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where

appropriate,

During the Track Record Pericd, there was no dividend distribution.
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Financial risk management
3.1 Finaneial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, interest.
rate risk, and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Group does not use any derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures during
the Track Record Period.

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk primarily arises from recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not
the respective group entities’ functional currency. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of the
transactions settled in RMB.

The Group'’s exposure to foreign exchange risk on December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 was insignificant as each of
the group entities did not hold significant assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than its functional
currency. '

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk primarily arises from redemption liabilities, borrowings, lease liabilities

and-cash and cash equivalents. Those carried at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk whereas those carried at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

~ Ifthe interest rate of borrowings with a floating rate had been 10% higher/lower, the loss before income tax for the

years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 would have been approximately RMB34.0 thousand, RMB280.8
thousand and RMB504.7 thousand higher/lower, respectively. This analysis does not include the effect of interest
capitalized.

If the interest rate of cash and cash equivalents had been 10% higher/lower, the loss before income tax for the years
ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 would have been approximately RMB31.4 thousand, RMB187.5 thousand
and RMB36.5 thousand lower/higher, respectively.

The fair value interest rate risk arises from financial assets and liabilities carried at fixed rates is not significant for
the Group.

The Group regularly monitors its interest rate risk to ensure there is no undue exposure to significant interest rate
movements.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of the long-term investments, and wealth management products held
by the Group and classified in the balance sheet as financial assets at FVPL. The Group is not exposed to commodity
price risk. To manage its price risk arising from the investments, the Group diversifies its portfolio. The investments
are managed by management one by one, either for strategic purposes, or for the purpose of achieving investment
vield and balancing the Group's liquidity level SImultaneously The sensitivity analysis is performed by
management, see note 3.3 for details.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk primarily in relation to its cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, contract
assets, financial lease receivables and other receivables (included in “prepayments and other receivables”). The
carrying amount of each class of the above financial assets represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
in relation to the corresponding class of financial assets.

To manage this risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group only transacts with state-owned or national
financial institutions in the PRC. There has been no recent history of default in relation to these financial
institutions.

To manage risk arising from trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has policies in place to ensure that
sales with credit terms are made to counterparties with an appropriate credit history and the management performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its counterparties. The credit period granted to the customers is usually no more than
180 days and the credit quality of these customers is assessed by taking into account their financial position, past
experience and other factors. The Company is in the progress of enhancing the collection of existing receivables, it
plans to enforce a more stringent customer admission policy, considering factors such as the historic overdue
amount and duration of previous contracts.

For other receivables (included in “prepayments and other receivables™ and financial lease receivables,
management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessments on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical settlement records and past experiences, In view of the history of cooperation with
debtors and the collection history of receivables due from them, management believes that the credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding other receivables balances due from them is low.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The Group performs impairment assessments under the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets at
amortized cost (mainly including trade receivables, other receivables and financial lease receivables) and contract
assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

‘While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS g, the impairment loss is
immaterial, as they are mainly placed with state-owned hanks in the PRC, and there has been no recent history of
default in relation to these banks. These instruments are considered to have low credit risk because they have a low
risk of default, and the counterparty has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near -
term.

Trade recetvables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS g simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses under which the lifetime
expected credit losses for all trade receivables and contract assets are estimated. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
the nature of customers and recovery patterns. The expected loss rates are based on the historical payment profiles,
historical credit loss rates by industry and data published by external credit rating institution, adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. The Group has identified the Purchasing Manager Index (SRES#2 32 $5#1), Gross Domestic Product (
M E #{E) and Broad Measure of Money Supply (B2 & ¥ 2 8) of mainland China in which it provides
services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the loss rates based on expected changes in certain
combination of factors for each group with similar credit risk characteristics:
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Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Details of loss allowance of trade receivables and contract assets as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
included in note 6 and note 23, respectively.

The moverments on the provision for impairment of trade receivables and contract assets are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’0o00
At beginning of the year (66,516) (138,567} (213,360)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables and’
contract assets (72,051) (91,391) (48,383)
Write-offs of provision for impairment of trade
receivables and contract assets - 16,598 19,715
At end of the year (138,567) (213,360) {242,028)

Other receivables and financial lease receivables

Other receivables mainly include deposits. Financial lease receivables are generated from subleasing as mentioned
in note 2.1.8 (iii). For other receivables and financial lease receivables management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on the recoverability based on historical settlement records, past
experience and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

The Group measures credit risk of other receivables and financial lease receivables using Probability of Default
{“PD™), Exposure at Default (“EAD”) and Loss Given Default (“LGD").

- Financial instruments that are not credit-impaired on initial recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1’ and have their
- credit risk continunously monitored by the Group. The expected credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis.

- If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when the debtor is more than 30 days past due on its
contractual payments) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but
is not yet deemed to be credit impaired. The expected credit loss is measured on lifetime basis.

- If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, when the debtor is more than go days past due on
its contractual payments), the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3". The expected credit loss is
measured on lifetime basis.

Asthere has been no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, most of the Group’s other receivables

and financial lease receivables as at Decemnber 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were classified in Stage 1 and their expected
credit losses were measured on a 12-month basis.
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Finanecial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and coniract assets (continued)
Other receivables and financial lease receivables (continued)

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the loss allowance of impaired other receivables and financial lease
receivables is determined as follows:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024

Expected credit loss rate 2.1% 2.0% 1.7%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’ooa)

- Other receivables 6,035 7,589 ‘ 6,242

- Financial lease receivables 4,025 . 790 6,736
Loss allowance (RMB’oo0)

- Other receivables (152) (129) (122)

- Financial lease receivables (62) (40) (102)

The movements on the provision for impairment of other receivables and financial lease receivables are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0
At beginning of the year (289) (214) (169)
Provision for impairment of other receivables and
financial lease receivables (52) (35) (142}
Reversal of previous impairment losses 127 80 87
At end of the year (214) (169) (224)

Write-off policy

Financial assets and contract assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include ceasing enforcement activity. Where receivables have
been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due.
Where recoveries are made, these are recognized in profit or loss.

Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets recognized in profit or loss

During the years presented, the following net impairment losses were recognized in profit or loss in relation to
impaired financial assets:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMPB’oo0 RMB’eco00
Impairment (losses)/gains on
- trade receivables and contract assets (note 23, 6) (72,051) {91,301) {48,383)
- other receivables and financial lease receivables '
(note 21, 22) 75 45 (55)
(71,976} (91,346) (48,438)
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Financial risk management (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)

Liguidity risk

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the policy of the Group is to regularly monitor the Group's liquidity risk and to maintain adequate cash
and cash equivalents or adjust financing arrangements to meet the Group’s liquidity requirements.

The table below analyzes the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of each reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as the impact

of discounting is not significant.

Less than 1 Between 1 and Between 2 and

year 2 years 5 years Total
RMB’oco00 RMPB’o00 RMB’o00
At December 31, 2022
Trade and other payables (excluding tax
payables) 188,002 - - 188,902
Borrowings (including interest) : 36,147 - - 36,147
Lease liabilities 15,152 4,445 - 19,597
240,201 4,445 - 244,646
At December 31, 2023
Trade and other payables {(excluding tax
payables) 176,343 - - 176,343
Borrowings (including interest) 66,580 - - 66,580
Lease liabilities 5,970 1,483 2,747 10,200
248,893 1,483 2,747 253,123
At December 31, 2024
Trade and other payables {excluding tax
payables) 219,941 - - 210,941
Borrowings (including interest) 146,609 - - 146,609
Lease liabilities 11,048 5,349 2,893 19,290
377,598 5,349 2,893 385,840

Please note that the Group did not include the liabilities arising from the redemption rights and the anti-dilution
rights that were granted to the Investors in the above table as these rights are subject to certain conditions and
scenarios (please refer to note 30 and note 31 for more details).

3.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives on managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and

support the sustainable growth of the Group in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance equity holders’ value in the long term.
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3 Financial risk management (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management (continued)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group meonitors capital on the basis of the net debt equity ratio. This ratio
is calculated as “net debt” divided by “total equity/(deficit)”. Net debt is caleulated as total borrowings, other payable
- borrowing from sales and leaseback, lease liabilities, redemption liabilities and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, less cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The net
debt equity ratios of December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 were as follows:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
Borrowings 35,000 65,000 145,378
Qther payable - borrowing from sales and leaseback - 1,000 -
Lease liabilities 18,767 9,598 18,248
Redemption liabilities 2,108,690 3,038,456 3,303,051
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 667 2,383 2,370
Less: cash and cash equivalents (74,118) (379,224} (156,476}
Wealth management products at fair value through profit
orloss - (69,010) -
Net debt 2,089,306 2,608,203 3,312,571
Total deficit (1,911,238) (2,208,757) (2,752,908}
Net debt deficit ratio | (109%) (116%) (120%)
3.3 Fair value estimation
(a) Financial assets and liabilities
i} Fair value hierarchiy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial instruments
that are recognized and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. To provide an indication
about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows underneath the

table.

Recurring fair value measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at December 31, 2022 RMB’oo0 RMPB’oco0 RMB’o00 RMPEB’o00
Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Unlisted equity investments - - 21,680 21,680

Financial abilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Anti-dilution rights granted to the Investors
(note 2.1.5) - - 667 667
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Financial risk management (continued)
Fair value estimation {continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Recurring fair value measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at December 31, 2023 RMB’0c00 RMB’000 RMB’ooco0 RMPEB’000

Financial assets .
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

- Unlisted equity investments - - 30,588 20,588
- Wealth management products - - 69,010 69,010
- - 99,598 99,508

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Anti-dilution rights granted to the Investors

(note 2.1.5) - - 2,383 2,383
Recurring fair value measurements Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
As at December 31, 2024 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0 RMB’oo0 RMB’000
Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss . .

- Unlisted equity investments - - 24,347 24,347
- - 24,347 24,347

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Anti-dilution rights granted to the Investors ‘
(note 2.1.5) - - 2,370 2,370

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and
equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of observable market data
and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument

_are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Valuation techniques used to determine fair values

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in
unlisted equity investments (note 25), financial assets at fair value through profit or less in wealth management
products (note 25) and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (note 31). As these instruments are not
traded in an active market, their fair values have been determined by using various applicable valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flows and market approach etc.

The finance department of the Group involves an independent valuer to perform the valuations of unlisted equity
investments and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. This independent valuer reports directly to
the chief financial officer (CFO). Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the CFO and the
independent valuer on a periodical basis, in line with the Group's reporting periods.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Fair value estimation (continued)
Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

There are no transfers of financial assets or liabilities between levels 2 and 3 during the Track Record Period.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments of financial assets and financial liabilities measured

at fair value through profit or loss for the years ended December 31, 2022,

2023 and 2024.

Financial Financial
assets Financial liabilities
atFVPL assets at FVPL
- wealth at FVPL - Anti-dilution
ranagement - unlisted equity rights granted to
products investments the Investors
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’000
Opening balance at January 1, 2022 80,859 23,022 (270)
Additions 88,900 - (362)
Disposals (170,754) - -
Gains recognized in other (losses}/gains - net
(note 8) 995 (1,342) (35)
Closing balance at December 31, 2022 - 21,680 (667)
Additions 803,010 - (985)
Disposals . (737,110) - -
Gains recognized in other (losses)/gains - net
(note 8) 3,110 8,908 (731)
Closing balance at December 31, 2023 69,010 30,588 (2,383)
Additions 80,000 2,250 -
Disposals {150,006) - -
Gains recognized in other (losses}/gains - net
(note 8) 996 (8,491) 13
Closing balance at December 31, 2024 - 24,347 (2,370)
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{a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors;
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Revenue recognition — allocating the transaction price

If a contract has several distinct performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to each of distinct
performance obligation in the contract based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. If the stand-alone selling
price is not directly observable, management estimate the stand-alone selling price using cost plus a reasonable
margin approach or residual approach when appropriate, depending on the availability of observable information
for such performance obligations. Significant assumptions and estimates have been made in identifying the number
of performance obligations included in the contracts and estimating the standalone selling price of each distinct
performance obligation, and changes in judgements on these assumptions and estimates could materially impact
the timing of revenue recognition.

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in mainland China and Hong Kong. Judgement is required in
determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxations. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. '

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are recognized when management
considers it to be probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences or
tax losses can be utilized.

Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowance for financial assets disclosed in note 3.1 is based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rate, The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estitnates at
the end of each reporting period.

Fair value of unlisted equity tnvestments classified as financial assets at FVPL

The fair value of unlisted equity investments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Company uses its judgement to select appropriate method and makes assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates
could materially affect the respective fair value of these investments. Details of the assumptions and estimates in
determination of the fair value are disclosed in note 3.3.

-40-



Segment information

During the Track Record Period, the Group’s business activities are primarily providing sales of Al products,
solutions and charging service fees for using its Al platform and solutions. The Group’s CODM, who has been
identified as the chief executive officer, reviews consolidated results when making decisions about allocating
resources and assessing performance ofthe Group as a whole and hence, the Group has only one reportable segment.
No geographical segment information is presented as the revenue and operating losses of the Group are mainly
derived within the PRC and all the operating assets of the Group are located in the PRC, which is considered as one
geographic location with similar risks and returns.

Revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by revenue streams is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’oo00 RMB’000 RMB’oo0

Daily life 486,682 578,729 739,830
Healthcare 113,452 148,245 199,180
Others 485 342 : 7
600,619 727,316 939,017

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of revenue recognition is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’oo00

Revenue .
- recognized at a point in time 583,048 698,529 910,961
- recognized over time 17,571 28,787 28,056
600,619 727,316 939,017

There is no single customer who contributed more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

.The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract assets and liabilities:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMBEB'o000 RMPB’o00 RMPB’000
Contract assets (i)
Daily life 1,834 T 3,593 3,265
Healthecare - 3,001 1,764 2,482
Less: allowance for impairment of contract assets (1,017) (1,234) (778)
Total 3,908 4,123 4,969
Contract liabilities (ii)
Daily life 42;294 53,920 80,884
Healthcare 12,909 10,884 5,381
Others 674 - -
Total 55,877 64,804 86,265
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(i)

Revenue (continued)
Contract assets and contract liabilities (continued)
The Company has recognized the following revenue-related contract assets and labilities:

As ai December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’o00
Contract assets (i)
Daily life 220 g71 23
Healthcare 3,001 1,764 1,169
Less: allowance for impairment of contract asseis (715) (817) (162)
Total 2,500 1,918 1,030
Contract liabilities (i)
Daily life ' 5,496 17,758 19,911
Healthcare 1,562 2,030 3,647
Total 7,058 20,688 23,558

Coniract assets are the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group transferred
to the customer where that right is conditional on something other than the passage of time. As at end of each year
of the Track Record Period, the contract assets were mainly the unsettled part of contract fees relating to quality
guarantee,

" The Group applies the IFRS g simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected

loss allowance for all contract assets.

Contract liabilities mainly arise from the advance payments from customers upon which the performance
obligations have been established while the underlying services are yet to be provided.

Revenue recognized in relation to contract liabilities
The following table shows how much of the revenue, which was included in the contract liability balance at the
beginning of each period, recognized during each of the Track Record Period related to carried-forward contract

liabilities.

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMPB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’000

Daily life 12,267 17,991 21,243
Healthcare 2,018 5,504 6,264
Others ' 25 165 -
Total 14,310 23,660 27,507
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Revenue (continued)
Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024:

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB'o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
Daily life 110,568 198,963 310,701
Healthcare 16,399 30,463 50,992
Total 126,967 220,426 361,663

Management expects that 50.5%, 68.8% and 79.3% of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as
at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 will be recognized as revenue within one year. The remaining 49.5%, 31.2%
and 20.7% will be recognized over one year.

Other income
Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’000
Government grants (i) 13,241 32,749 16,084
VAT refund and VT super-deduction 2,328 3,382 809
Others 177 182 184
15,746 36,313 17,077

The Group received government grants from local governments as support for research and development expenses -
relating to iInnovation activities. :

Other (losses)/gains - net

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’0o00 RMEB’o00 RMB’ooo
Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial assets at FVPL
(note 25) (347) 12,018 (7,495)
Net fair value (losses)/gains on financial liabilities at
FVPL(note 3.3) (35 - (731) 13
Tinancial subleasing related income 334 171 202
Potential loss on investments accounted for using the
equity method - - (4,900)
Other items (1,315) (879) (1,804)
(1,363) 10,579 (13,964)
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g9 Expenses by nature

Expenses ineluded in cost of sales and services, selling and marketing expenses, administrative expenses and
research and development expenses are further analyzed as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Employee henefit expenses (note 10) 173,203 179,527 186,942
Cost of hardware 279,629 302,899 312,038
Software development support fees 61,272 108,891 237,147
Technology service fees 147,266 143,906 210,146
Marketing and promotional expenses 12,950 18,534 25,363
Server operation and cloud-based service fees 10,922 17,130 32,681
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 16) 12,417 9,468 12,766
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 17) 9,450 10,131 10,086
Amortization of intangible assets (note 18) 373 277 2,007
Auditors’ remuneration ' :

-Audit services 773 568 423
Listing expenses 15,757 26,276 21,234
Other professional fees 4,067 6,111 4,523
Taxes and surcharges 2,560 2,731 3,682
Cther expenses 11,608 16,481 18,462

742,337 842,939 1,079,420
10 Employee benefit expenses
Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’o00
Wages, salaries and bonuses 134,071 134,261 148,674
Pension costs 17,858 17,914 17,951
Housing funds 9,749 9,819 9,955
Other social security costs 10,689 10,712 10,155
Other employee welfare 1,587 3,386 2,900
Share based compensation(note 32(i)} - 4,532 -
' 173,954 180,624 189,635
Less: capitalized in contract fulfillment cost (751) (1,007) (2,603)
173,203 179,527 186,942

(i} Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the Track Record Period included 2, 1 and
3 directors respectively, whose emoluments are disclosed in note 41. The emoluments payable to the remaining 3, 4

and 2 individuals during the Track Record Period respectively are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’o00 RMPB’000 RMPB’0o00

Wages, salaries and bonuses ' 3,057 3,856 1,513

Pension costs 201 245 141

Housing benefits 97 © 134 81
Other social security costs 121 143 83 -

3,476 4,378 1,818

-44-



10 Employee benefit expenses (continued)
@ Five highest paid individuals (continued)
The emoluments of the 3, 4 and 2 individuals fell within the following bands:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

Emoluments bands:

HK$ 500,000 to HK$1,000,000 . - - 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 3 4 1
3 4 2

During the Track Record Period, no director or the five highest paid individuals received any emolument from the
Group as an inducement to join, upon joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss of office. .

11 Finance costs - net

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’oo0 RMB’oco00 RMPB’o00
Finance income
Interest income from bank deposits 314 1,875 2,208
Finance costs
Interest expenses on redemption liabilities (note 30) . (176,429) (208,845) (264,505)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings (340) (2,808) (5,323)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (note 17) {(g06) (731) (1,020)
Interest expenses on borrowing from sales and
leaseback - (386) (5)
Finance costs — net (177,361) (210,895) (268,645)
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(a)

(b)

13

14

(a)

®)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group (continued)

The Company records in its balance sheets the “Investments in subsidiaries” including i) the paid-in capital to its
directly held subsidiaries as listed above at RMB228 million, RMB585 million and 596 million on December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively, and ii) share-based compensation expenses for historical share incentives
granted to certain employees of the directly held subsidiaries using the Company's equity instruments, amounted to
RMB2.2 million, RMB2.2 million, and RMBz2.2 million, on December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Investment in subsidiaries — the Company

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMPB’oo00 RMPB’ooo RMPEB’000

At beginning of the year 122,383 230,383 . 586,883

Additional investments in subsidiaries 108,000 356,500 11,000
Impairment of investments in a subsidiary - - (5,100)

At end of the year 230,383 586,883 592,783

Investments accounted for using the equity method

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
At beginning of the year 1,525 2,617 -
Share of profit/{loss) : 1,092 (2,617) -
At end of the year 2,617 - -

Set out below is the associate, accounted for using the equity method, of the Group as at December 31, 2022, 2023
and 2024. The proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held.

Place of % of ownership interest Carrying amount
Name of entity operation As at December 31, As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024 2022 2023 2024
% % . % RMB’oo0 RMB’00o0 RMB’oo0
Shanghai Maosheng Intelligence
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Macsheng”) Shanghai, China 49.0 49.0 49.0 2,617 - -

Income tax expense

Hong Kong Income Tax

Subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is subject to Hong Kong profits tax of which the tax rate is 8.25% on
assessable profits up to HKD2 millien, and 16.5% on any part of assessable profits over HKD2 million for the Track
Record Peried,

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the PRC was subject to a statutory tax rate of

25% on the assessable profits for the Track Record Period, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.
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(i)
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(i)

Income tax expense (continued)

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) (continued)

The Company, Shenzhen Unisound and Shanghai Unisound qualified as “High and New Technology Enterprises”
(“HNTEs"”) under the relevant PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, these entities were entitled to a preferential
income tax rate of 15% during the Track Record Period. This status is subject to a requirement that they reapply
for HNTEs status every three years.

The income tax (credit)/expense of the Group for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMFB’000 RMB’o00

Current tax 33 2,300 80
Deferred income tax (credit)/expense (note 34) (222} 346 (242)
Income tax (credit)/expense : (189) 2,655 (162)

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted
average tax rate applicable to losses of the consolidated entities as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’o00 -
Loss before income tax credit (375,580) (373,589) (454,373)
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 25% (93,895) (93,397 (113,593)
Tax effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (i) 36,504 31,996 40,310
Super-deduction for research and development
expenses (ii) ' (18,994) (22,603) (31,663)
Tax losses and temporary differences for which no :
deferred income tax asset was recognized (iii) 39,486 48,115 57,360
Effect of preferential tax rates 36,735 38,544 47,454
Effect of different tax rates {25) - {30)
(189) 2,655 (162)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes mainly consist of interest expense on redemption liabilities {note 11) and
certain non-deductible expenses.

According to the relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Taxation Administration of the PRC,
enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 200% of their research and
development expenses so incurred as tax deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
year (“Super-deduction”). The Group has made its best estimation for the Super-deduction to be claimed for the
Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024,

As at December 31, 2022, 2023, and 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately RMB1,508 millien,
RMEB1,718 million and RMB1,946 million respectively that can be carried forward.against future taxable income.
The unused tax losses of the Group were from the subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, where the accumulated tax
losses will normally expire within 5 years. Pursuant to the relevant regulations on extension for expiries of unused
tax losses of HNTEs issued in August 2018, the accumulated tax losses which have not expired by 2018 have been
extended from 5 years to 10 years from then on.

-49-



14

(b)
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(a)

Income tax expense (continued)

PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) (continued)
As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the expiry dates of the unused tax losses are listed as below.

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00

Year ended December 31, 2023 318 - -
Year ended December 31, 2024 42,833 42,785 -
Year ending December 31, 2025 91,952 76,939 75,825
Year ending December 31, 2026 118,708 118,708 117,951
Year ending December 31, 2027 153,406 149,851 149,851
Year ending December 31, 2028 171,611 167,531 166,561
Year ending December 31, 2029 252,370 252,370 293,972
Year ending December 31, 2030 202,499 202,499 202,499
Year ending December 31, 2031 226,944 226,944 226,944
Year ending December 31, 2032 247,287 247,279 247,279
Year ending December 31, 2033 - 233,374 233,374
Year ending December 31, 2034 - - 232,240
' 1,507,928 1,718,280 1,046,496

Loss per share

Basic loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to the Company’s owners by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the Track
Record Period.

The calculation of loss per share is based on the following:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company

(RMB’000) {366,012) (375.:461) (452,364)
‘Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

(thousand shares) ‘ 63,613 67,357 69,392
Basic and diluted loss per share (RMB yuan) (a) {5.75) {(5.57) (6.52)

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. As the Group incurred losses for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the potential ordinary shares were not included in the caleulation of diluted
loss per share, as their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are the same as basic loss per share for the respective years.
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Property, plant and equipment

Electronic Office Leasehold
The Group equipment furniture improvements - Total

RMP’000 RMEB'000 RMPB’000 RMPB’o00
Cost:
At January 1, 2022 55,100 5,140. 15,007 76,237
Additions ‘ 1,103 287 g9 1,489
Disposals (519) (48) - (567)
At December 31, 2022 55,084 5,379 16,096 77,159
Additions 14,078 111 41 14,230
Disposals (1,880) ' (65) - (1,945)
At December 31, 2023 67,882 5,425 16,137 89,444
Additions : 8,478 2,707 10,529 21,714
Disposals {(736) (154) (16,035) (16,925)
At December 31, 2024 75,624 7,978 10,631 04,233
Accumulated depreciation: ‘
At January 1, 2022 (35,967) (3,936) {10,840) (50,743)
Depreciation (8,725) (631) (3,061) (12,417)
Disposals 492 42 - 534
At December 31, 2022 (44,200) (4,525) (13,901) (62,626)
Depreciation (6,980) {471) {2,017} (9,468)
Disposals 1,751 59 - 1,810
At December 31, 2023 (49,429) {4,937) (15,918) (70,284)
Depreciation (9,255) (753) (2,758) (12,766)
Disposals 717 146 16,035 16,808
At December 31, 2024 (57,967} (5,544) (2,641 (66,152)
Net carrying amount:
At December 31, 2022 11,484 854 2,195 14,533
At December 31, 2023 18,453 488 219 19,160
At December 31, 2024 17,657 2,434 7,990 28,081

Depreciation expenses have been charged to profit or loss and presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss as follows: '

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’oo00

Cost of sales 3,930 3,565 2,536
Selling and marketing expenses 988 1,591 4,142
Administrative expenses 1,177 956 862
Research and development expenses 6,322 3,356 5,226
12,417 9,468 12,766
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Electronic Office Leasehold

The Company equipment furniture  improvement Total

RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB'o00 RMB’oo00
Cost:
At January 1, 2022 13,136 3,952 10,668 28,056
Additions 8og 194 - 1,003
Disposals {396) (26) - (422)
At December 31, 2022 13,549 4,120 10,968 28,637
Additions 9,328 - - 9,328
Disposals (792) (10) - (802)
At December 31, 2023 22,085 4,110 10,068 37,163
Additions 4,337 783 - 5,120
Disposals . (21) (25) {10,968) {11,014)
At December 31, 2024 26,401 4,868 - 31,269
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2022 (11,124) (2,817} {(7,511) (21,452)
Depreciation (679) (447) (1,661) (2,787)
Disposals 376 25 - 401
At December 31, 2022 (11,427) (3,239) (9,172) (23,838)
Depreciation (2,224) (351) (1,660) (4,235)
Disposals 752 10 - . 762
At December 31, 2023 {12,899) (3,580) (10,832) (27,311)
Depreciation (4,240) (457) (136) (4,833)
Disposals 19 18 10,968 11,005
At December 31, 2024 - (17,120} (4,019) - (21,139)
Net carrying amount:
At December 31, 2022 2,122 881 1,706 4,799
At December 31, 2023 9,186 530 136 9,852
At December 31, 2024 9,281 . 849 - 10,130

Depreciation expenses have been charged to profit or loss and presented in the Company statements of
comprehensive loss as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’000

Cost of sales 2 a5 73
Selling and marketing expenses 25 . 341 66
Administrative expenses 444 820 238
Research and development expenses 2,316 3,039 4,456
2,787 4,235 4,833
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17 Leases
The Group
(a) Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’o00 RMPB’000 RMB’o00
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 12,422 8,645 10,385
Lease liabilities
Current 14,395 4,913 10,665
Non-current 4,372 4,685 7,583

18,767 9,508 18,248
b) The movement in right-of-use assets in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:
As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024

RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMPB’000
Cost
At beginning of the year 39,662 48,501 33,416
Additions 8,830 7,586 20,586
Modification of leasing contracts - (3,407) -
Termination of lease contracts - (19,264) (34,701)
At end of the year -48,501 33,416 19,301
Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year (26,629) (36,079) (24,771)
Depreciation charge for the year (9,450) (10,131) (10,086)
Modification of leasing contracts - 2,175 -
Termination of lease contracts - 19,264 25,941
At end of the year (36,079) (24,771) (8,916)
Net book amount
At end of the year 12,422 8,645 10,385

(c) Amounts recognized in the consolidaited statements of comprehensive income

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
- Building 9,450 10,131 "~ 10,086
Interest expense (note 11) 06 731 1,020
Expense relating to short-term leases 1,132 685 2,145

The total cash outflows for long-term and short-term leases during the years ended December-31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 were approximately RMB12,0 million, RMB16.5 million and RMB15,1 million, respectively.

_53_



17 Leases {continued)
The Company
(a) Amounts recognized in the balance sheets of the Company

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’000
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 4,423 341 4,868
Lease liabilities ‘
Current 5,163 - 4,380
(b) The movement in right-of-use assets in the balunce sheets of the Company are as follows:
As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
Cost
At beginning of the year 20,412 20,412 20,412
Additions - - 8,986
Termination of lease contracts - - (20,412)
At end of the year 20,412 20,412 8,986
Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the year (11,907) (15,989) (20,071)
Depreciation charge for the year {4,082) (4,082) (4,459)
Termination of leasing contracts - - 20,412
At end of the year (15,989) (20,071) (4,118)
Net book amount
At end of the year 4,423 341 4,868
(c) Amounts recognized in the statements gf comprehensive income

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’0o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets , .
- Building 4,082 4,082 4,459
Interest expense (note 11) 383 101 282
Expense relating to short-term leases 209 219 233

The total cash outflows for long-term and short-term leases during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and
2024 were approximately RMB5.1 million, RMB6.0 million and RMB5.1 million, respectively.
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Intangible Assets

The Group Software Patent Total
RMBPB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000
Cost:
At January 1, 2022 2,291 300 2,501
Additions : 321 - 321
Disposals - - -
At December 31, 2022 2,612 300 2,912
Additions 215 - 215
Disposals - - -
At December 31, 2023 ) 2,827 300 3,127
Additions ‘ 10,600 600 11,290
Disposals - (300) (300)
At December 31, 2024 13,517 600 14,117

Accumulated amortisation:

At January 1, 2022 (1,929) (50) (1,979)
Amortization (223) (150) (373)
Disposals - - -

At December 31, 2022 (2,152) (200) (2,352)
Amortization (177) {(100) (277}
Disposals - - -

At December 31, 2023 (2,329) (300) {2,629)
Amortization (2,697) (300} (2,997)
Disposals ' - 300 300

At December 31, 2024 (5,026) (300). (5,326)

Net carrying amount:

At December 31, 2022 460 100 560
At December 31, 2023 ‘ 498 - 498
At December 31, 2024 8,491 300 8,791

Amortisation expenses have been charged to profit or loss and presehted in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’000

Selling and marketing expenses 21 21 ' 2,522
Administrative expenses 87 63 101
Research and development expenses 265 193 374
373 277 2,997
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Intangible Assets (continued)

The Company Software
RMB’0o00
Cost:
At January 1, 2022 2,085
Additions 321
Disposals -
At December 31, 2022 2,406
Additions 214
Disposals -
At December 31, 2023 2,620
Additions -
Disposals -
At December 31, 2024 2,620

Accumulated amortisation:

At January 1, 2022 (1,883)
Amortization (192)
Disposals -

At December 31, 2022 {2,075)
Amortization (145)
Disposals -

At December 31, 2023 ‘ (2,220)
Amortization . (163)
At December 31, 2024 (2,383)

Net carrying amount:

At December 31, 2022 331
At December 31, 2023 400
At December 31, 2024 237

Amortisation expenses have been charged to profit or loss and presented in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMPB’oo0 RMB’o00

Administrative expenses - 87 63 83
Research and development expenses . ) 105 82 80
192 145 163
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Other non-current assets

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’ooo0 RMB’000 RMB’000
Prepayments for acquiring office space (note 38(a)} - 47,393 47,393

On April 25, 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Jinan Supercomputing Industry Development Co.,
LTD (78 i 5 & % B A R4 7)) to acquire office space in the National Supercomputing Center Jinan Science Park
(B B E 7 FP.OFR 4% E). Pursuant to this agreement, on December 31, 2023, the Comparny paid a down payment
of RMB47.4 million, representing approximately 50% of the total expected purchase consideration. The Company
recorded the above prepayment as other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheet. See note 38 for more
information.

Financial instruments by category

As at December 31,
Note 2022 2023 2024
Financial assets RMB'oo0 RMB’000 RMB’oo00
Financial assets at arnortized cost:
- Trade receivables 23 368,860 411,053 559,242
- Other receivables (included in the
“prepayments and other receivables”) 22 5,883 7,460 6,120
- Cash and cash equivalents 26 74,118 379,224 156,476
- Financial lease receivables 21 3,063 750 6,634
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Wealth management products 25 - 60,010 -
- Unlisted equiiy investments 25 21,680 30,588 24,347
474,504 898,085 752,819
As at December 31,
Note 2022 2023 2024
Financial liabilities RMB’000 RMB’oo0 RMB’ooco
Financial liabilities at amortized cost:
- Trade and other payables (excluding tax ‘
payables) 33 188,902 176,343 219,941
- Borrowings 37 35,000 65,000 145,378
- Redemption liabilities 30 2,108,990 3,038,456 3,303,051
- Lease liabilities 17 18,767 9,598 18,248
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or ' :
loss:
- Anti-dilution rights granted to the Investors 31 - 667 2,383 2,370
2,352,326 3,291,780 3,688,088

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 3. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of financial assets
mentioned above.
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Financial lease receivables

Details of finance lease receivables as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 are as below:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMBEB’000
Finance lease receivables, gross
- Finance lease receivables, undiscounted 4,367 o11 7,179
- Unearned finance lease income (342) {121) (443)
4,025 790 6,736
Less: provision for expected credit losses (62) (40) (102)
Finance lease receivables, net
- Current . 3:293 750 . 2,909
- Non-current 670 - 3,725
3,963 750 6,634
Finance lease receivables, undiscounted
- Within one year 3,456 911 2,672
- After one year but not more than two years 911 - 3,100
- After two years but not more than three years - - - 1,107
4,367 911 7,179

As at December 31, 2022,2023 and 2024, carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables are all denominated in
RMB and approximate their fair values at the end of each reporting period, none of which was past due.

Movements on the Group’s provision for expected credit losses of finance lease receivables are as follows:
<

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’oo00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
At January 1, . {127) (62) (40)
Charge for the year
- Impairment allowance charged - - (62)
- Impairment allowance reversed 65 22 -
At December 31, ' (62) (40) (102)
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(b)
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Prepayments, other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries

Prepayments and other receivables

The Group As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’oco0 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0

Other receivables

- Rental, bidding and other deposits 6,032 7,585 6,239
- Others 3 4 3
Gross other receivables ‘ 6,035 7,589 6,242
Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables (152) (i29) (122)
5,883 7,460 6,120
" Deductible VAT input 2,939 9,018 15,561
Prepayment to suppliers 23,348 49,778 67,849
Total 32,170 66,256 89,530
The Company As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMP’000 RMPB’000 RMB’000
Other receivables
- Rental, bidding and other deposits , 2,128 2,340 2,499
- Others 3 4 -
Gross other receivables 2,131 2,344 2,499
Less: allowance for impairment of other receivables {90) (59) (35)
2,041 2,285 2,464
Deductible VAT input 904 1,065 51
Prepayment to suppliers ’ 12,087 23,808 25,324
Total 15,032 28,058 27,830

Amounts due from subsidiaries
The Company
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and expected to be collected over one year.

Trade receivables

The Group As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’oo0 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0

Trade receivables from contracts with customers

- Third parties 506,410 623,179 800,492
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (137,550) (212,126) (241,250)
Total trade receivables 368,860 411,053 550,242

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are mainly denominated in RMB,
The Group decides trading terms with customers on a case-by-case basis. The credit terms given to trade customers

are determined on an individual basis with the normal contractual credit period mainly within 18¢ days The aging
analysis of the trade receivables based on date of revenue recognition is as follows:
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0]

i)

Trade receivables (continued)
The Group (continued)

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
Up to 1 year 323,066 . 414,111 563,106
1-2 years 133,944 108,459 121,264
More than 2 years 48,500 100,609 116,032
506,410 623,179 800,492

Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (137,550) (212,126) (241,250)
Total 368,860 411,053 559,242

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amounts are considered to be approximately
the same as their fair values,

The Group does not hold any collateral as security over these debtors as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Ag at December 31, 2022, the loss allowance of individually impaired trade receivables of the Group is determined
as follows:

For trade receivables that do not share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Individual Gross amount credit loss rate Loss allowance Reason
RMB’o00 % RMB’o00

Fully impaired due to
remote possibility of

Trade receivables 19,765 100.0% 19,765 Tecovery

For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:
Expected

Gross creditloss Loss
At December 31, 2022 amount rate allowance
RMB’0c00 . % RMB’o00
Up to 1 year 323,064 6.0% 19,579
1to 2 years 128,760 49.0% 64,285
More than 2 years ’ 33,921 100.0% 33,021
Total 486,645 24.2% 117,785

As at December 31, 2023, the loss allowance of individually impaired trade receivables of the Group is determined
as follows: .

For trade receivables that do not share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Individual Gross amount credit loss rate Loss allowance Reason
RMPB’000 % RMB’o00
Fully impaired due to
remote possibility of
Trade receivables 6,172 100.0% 6,172 recovery
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23 Trade receivables (continued)
The Group (continued)

@i} As at December 31, 2023, the loss allowance of individually impaired trade receivables of the Group is determined
as follows {continued):

For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Gross credit loss Loss
At December 31, 2023 amount rate allowance
RMB’o00 % RMPB’000
Up to 1 year 414,111 11.8% 48,791
110 2 years 106,956 57.2% 61,223
More than 2 years 95,840 100.0% 95,940
Total 617,007 33.4% 205,954
(iti) As at December 31, 2024, the Group did not identify any individually impaired trade receivables for the assessment
of loss allowance.
For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:
Expected
Gross credit loss Loss
At December 31, 2024 amount rate allowance
RMB’o00 % RMB’o00
Up to 1year 563,196 12.4% 69,851
1to 2 years 121,264 45.7% 55,367
More than 2 years 116,032 100.0% 116,032
Total . 800,492 30.1% 241,250

The movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables please refer to note 3.1.

The Company As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMPB’000 RMPB’000

Trade receivables from contracts with customers

- Third parties 110,616 155,735 182,133
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (31,672) {59,078) (67.494)
Total trade receivables 78,944 96,657 114,630

The carrying amounts of the Company’s trade receivables are mainly denominated in RMB.
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23 Trade receivables (continued)
The Company (continued)
The Company decides trading terms with customers on a case-by-case basis. The credit terms given to trade

customers are determined on an individual basis with the normal contractual credit period mainly within 180 days.
The aging analysis of the trade receivables based on date of revenue recognition is as follows:

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’o00
Upto 1year 64,926 93,664 115,567
1-2 years 27,503 20,163 26,558
More than 2 years 18,097 32,908 40,008
110,616 155,735 182,133

Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables {31,672) (59,078) (67,494)
Total 78,944 96,657 114,639

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amounts are considered to be approximately
the same as their fair values.

The Company does not hold any collateral as security over these debtors as at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

7] Asat December 31, 2022, the loss allowance of individually impaired trade receivables of the Company is determined
as follows:

For trade receivables that do not share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Individual Gross amount creditlossrate . Loss allowance Reason
RMB’o00 % RMFB’o000

Fully impaired due to
remote possibility of

Trade receivables 2,802 100.0% 2,802 recovery

For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:
Expected

Gross creditloss Loss
At December 31, 2022 amount rate allowance
RMB’oo0 % RMB’o00
Up to 1 year ' 64,526 5.4% 3,538
1to 2 years 27,503 36.4% 10,037
More than 2 years : 15,295 100.0% 15,295
Total : ' 107,814 26.8% 28,870
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Trade receivables (continued)
The Company (continued)

As at December 31, 2023, the loss allowance of individually impaired trade receivables of the Company is determined
as follows:

For trade receivables that do not share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Individual Gross amount credit loss rate Loss allowance Reason
’ RMB’o00 % RMDB’oo0

Fully impaired due to

remote possibility of
Trade receivables 2,802 100.0% 2,802 Tecovery
For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:

Expected
Gross credit loss Loss
At December 31, 2023 amount rate allowance
RMPB’000 % RMPB’000

Upto 1 year 93,664 11.7% 10,996
1to 2 years 29,163 52.0% 15,174
More than 2 years 30,106 100.0% 30,106
Total 152,933 36.8% 56,276

As at December 31, 2024, the Company did not identify any individually impaired trade receivables for the
assessment of loss allowance.

For trade receivables that share the same characteristics with others:

Expected

Gross credit loss Loss

At December 31, 2024 amount rate allowance
RMB’oo0 % RMB’o00

Up to 1year 115,567 13.4% 15,433
1to 2 years 26,558 45.4% 12,053
More than 2 years 40,008 100.0% 40,008
Total 182,133 37.1% 67,494

Inventories
As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB'o00 RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchased hardware and software 23,333 23,301 28,435
Contract fulfillment cost 17,056 53,021 119,339
40,389 76,322 147,774
Less: allowance for impéirment of inventories (6,775) (8,469) (7.482)
33,614 67,853 140,292

-63-



24

(a)
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(3]

(b}

(@)

Inventories (continued)
Amounts recognized in profit or loss

Inventories recognized as cost of sales and services during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024 was
RMB340.9 million, RMB411.8 million and RMB550.1 million, respectively.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
'Ithe Gro-up

Classification of. ﬁnanci&l assets at FVPL

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following:

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’ooo RMB’o00 RMB’oo0

Non-current assets

Unlisted equity investtents ' 21,680 30,588 24,347

Current assets

Investments in wealth management products - 69,010 -

Amounts recognized in profit or loss
During the Track Record Period, the following gains were recognized in profit or loss:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’0o00 RMPB’000 RMB’000
Fair value (losses)/gains on investrnents in unlisted
equity investments (1,342) 8,508 (8,491)
Fair value gains on investments in wealth management
products 995 3,110 006
' (347) 12,018 (7.495)

Risk exposure and fair value measurements

Information about the Group’s exposure to financial risk is provided in note 3.1 and information about the methods
and assumptions used in determining fair value are set out in note 3.3.

The Company
Classification of financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMPRB’000 RMB'oo0
Non-current assets
Unlisted equity investments 21,680 30,588 22,007
Current assets
Investments in wealth management products - 10,010 -
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

The Company (continued)

Amounts recognized in profit or loss

During the Track Record Period, the following gains were recognized in profit or loss:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’oo0
Tair value (losses)/gains on investments in unlisted
equity investments (1,342) 8,908 (8,491)
Fair value gains on investments in wealth management .
products 874 1,729 61
(468) 10,637 (8,430)
Cash and cash equivalents
The Groilp As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’oo0 RMPB’o00 RMPFE’o00
Cash at banks 74,118 379,224 160,017
Less: restricted cash(a) - - (3,541)
Cash and cash equivalents 74,118 379,224 156,476

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMB’oo0 RMPB’o00
UusD 4,006 3,101 3,376
HKD ‘ 1 1 1
RMB 70,111 376,122 153,099
Total 74,118 379,224 156,476
The Company As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMPEB’000 RMPB’000
Cash at banks 31,973 84,608 12,803
Less: restricted cash - - (5090)
Cash and cash equivalents ) 31,973 84,608 12,213
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(a)

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

The Company (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company are denominated in the following currencies:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’oo0
UsSD ‘ 962 7 6
RMB 31,011 84,601 12,207
Total 31,973 84,608 12,213

Restricted cash

As at December 31, 2024, the restricted cash was in relation to deposits for issuance of letter of guarantee and a
dispute in which a subsidiary of the Company was associated defendant without primary obligation.

Share capital

Number of shares Share capital
RMEB’000

Authorized and issued
AtJanuary 1, 2022 63,573,428 63,573
Capital injéction from Series D2 investors (a) 74,792 75
At December 31, 2022 63,648,220 673,648
Capital injection from Series D3 investors (a) 5,744,253 5,744
At Decerﬁber 31, 2023 69,392,473 69,392
At December 31, 2024 69,392,473 69,392

The Company completed its Series D2 and Series D3 financing for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023,
respectively, please see note 28 and note 30 for details.

-66 -



|h®|

oty‘Shee 05g {58088 zEO'EIOT (LE9°€95 )
t6e 6T - - -
(698) - - {(698) -

(586) - - (Sg6) -

6LET - - 6LET -

- - - - (0oo‘zesl)
A % - z85Y - -

PL969 - - 1PL960 -
gFebaT 956 9st‘9ct 999°L12T (LeoT¥yT)
avePer 955 98898 999 LIZT (LE9T¥g'T)
Sg S8 - - -
(298) - - (29€) -

60LE - - 604°E -

- - - - (000‘01)
PE9‘6 - - ¥E9'6 -

zeb 1esT i VA 4 (o T AN TAN Sgo‘tozt (£E91€8°T)
Q00 I 000, gINA 000, g 000 4N o000 NI
SIATISAI SIAIISAI SIAIISAI wnruraad 2018
[®10L JaUL) syuawded Ay Amseaxy,

paseq-aaeys
DATISIY

£20%T ‘TS QUG IV
S3VURILIp UonB[SURY AUl
g3s293U1 Surj[onuod-uot jo nonsmboy
{IE 210U) $10)59AUI £ SIS 0) pAIURLS A|MaU SR{FL uonn[Ip-Hue
a1 10] 5507 20 yyoad yBnoui) anfea Ire] 18 SaUI[IqRI] [RIoURUY JO UOIHUS00Y
() of sou) saniqiqer] uondwsPox PIIUEIE 0} BOIIROYIPO
{0€ s10u) s10153AUT £
salTag 03 paues syySu parryald s 107 seniqel] uondwapalt Jo uonIUB0ITy
(2€ ajou) ucnesuaduwcd Juawied peseq-areys
{0€ ajou) 103s2AUl £(T $9119S 01 S1sa181ul Aymba Jo aduenssy
£zTozT ‘1 Arenuer iy

2TOT ‘1€ DU IV
SSOUSIIJJIP UOTIR[SURL ADUSLIN)
(1€ 210U) S10359AUI (] SaLIag 0] pajueld A[mau spySu uonnyp-mue
81} 10} 550] 10 Jo1d Y3nouyl anfea Ire] 18 ssnI[Iqel] [elouEuy Jo HonIugodsy
(((0E Aou) senyiqer] uondwepal pajueisd 6} UOLEIIPOIN
(0§ 210U) sI10158AUI B
ssL1ag 0} payueas syySu paLayead a1y 1oy sonfiqer uenduwepsi jo uoniusodvy
(0€ 9101) 101SIAUT B(F SALIAG O SISaIIUL Aymbo Jo aouenssy
2T0T ‘T Arenuep v

dnoxn oy,

SIAIISAI PUE {I0)S AIMSEIL],

g%<



|wol

Sog‘teeT 989 QLEO1E | TOgPTOT (££9°695T)
Sog‘vte'e 989 gICfo1E 10QPI6T (£E9°C0% )
(586) - - (586) -

6LET - - 6481 -

1982 - 1g8€'e - -

- - - - {oo0‘gel)
PLi969 - - 1P4'969 -
6Qe'GEST 989 LE6°91E 9994121 (LE91FQT)
68c‘4EyT 989 LE6'g1E 099181 (LEg 1t g°T)
(29%) - - (=98) -

60LE - - 604C -

- - - - (coofor)
¥E9°6 - - ¥e9 6 -
g0E'BesT 989 LEGOTE Sgo‘loz’t (L£9168'T)
000 g 000 WY 000 gINH 000 HIWH 000 I
SOATISAI SIATISAI SIATISIX umrnuaad HO01S
e10L IO sjuauded areys Amseaa],

paseq-areys
2ATISOY
ool'Sbe's 016 g4g‘0ct ZEOCI6T (£E9°695 )
09 09 - - -
okrg'Stee 08¢ g9g°0LE ZE6EIOT (489°€05°T)
000 qAA 000, g 000, 9gIWd 000, N 000 dINd
SIAIISII SIATISAI SIAIISIT umrura.xd H201S
=101, INRO syuawied aIeys Anseaa],
Ppaseq-aIeys
AXIISDY

Pzoz ‘1€ dquadag 1y

£20% ‘T€ I2qUIIRJ IV
(1€ 2100) sao3saAUL £ 311G 01 pajueId Smau SIS uonN[Ip-1Ue
1) 103 ssof 10 3yoad yBnoIL) N[BA ITeJ I8 SANI[Iqe]] [BouRUY JO UONIUS0daY
((QD(I)0E s10u) SNICET] uondWApal paIUEIs 0} UCLIRIYIPOI
(2 210u) uonesuad s Juatiied paseq-areys
(O€ a10U) SI01S2AUT E(T SITIBY
01 paess A(meu s3ySi1 padisjexd a1 107 SaT[IqRI UONAIULPAL JO UONITUT0DY
(0€ 910U) 510150AUI £(] SILIDS 01 5152197l A1ND3 Jo souenss|
£zoz ‘1 Atenuep 1y

TTOT ‘IE IDQUIIII( IV

(1€ 910U) I0JS3AI T S3LIBG 01 pajueld Amau spydu uonnip-rue
a1} 10} $$07 10 17oxd Y3nOIy) SN[eA Ire] T8 SANI[IqRI] [BIURLY Jo UOIHUS0Y
(((OE 210uU) SaIqRI] UoRdWLPDI PIIUERIS O] HOLEIYIPOIY

(0% 2101} 101$9AUL Z(J SILIRS
0] payte1d Amau sjysi1 patsjead oy} 10 sani[Iqer] uondwapad Jo UouEe0y
(O€ 51011} 10159AUI 2] $ILIG 0] S15101UI ANNDI O SOUEBNSS]
<202 ‘T Arenuep 1y

+ Aueduro)) ayfy,
tzoz 1€ JPqUIRq IV

SPIUAISYIP UOHEB[SULL AOUDLINY)
tzoz ‘T Atenuep 1y

(panunuoy) dnoas) 2y J,

(PANULIIOD) SPAIDSAT PUE YIO)S AINSTAL],

8%



29

30

Accumulated deficit

The Group | Year ended December 31,
2022 _ 2023 2024
RMP’000 RMP’o00 RMPB’o00
At beginning of the vear (1,291,406) (1,657,418) (2,032,879)
Net loss for the year (366,012) (375,461) (452,364)
At end of the year (1,657,418) (2,032,879) (2,485,243)
The Company Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’co0 RMPB’oo0 RMPB’000
At beginning of the year i (880,125) (1,197,818) (1,521,427)
Net loss for the year (317,693) (323,609) (417,139)
At end of the year (1,197,818) (1,521,427) (1,938,566)

Redemption liabilities

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB'oco0 - RMB’000 RMB’oo0
Redemption liabilities ' 2,108,990 3,038,456 3,303,051

Since its incorporation in 2012, the Company has completed several rounds of financing including Series Angel,
Series A, Series B, Series C, Series C+, Series D, Series D+, Series D1, Series D2 and Series D3, each leading to an
increase in the capital of the Company.

The details of financing undertaken in the Track Record Period are as follows.
Series D2 financing

In June 2022, the Group and then existing shareholders entered into an investment agreement (the “Series D2
Investment Agreement”), with Guangdong Jinhongsheng Venture Capital Partnership (L.P.) (the “Series D2
investor™), pursuant to which the Series D2 Investor injected total capital of RMB10.0 million into the Company,
the Company then issued share capital of approximately RMB75 thousand to the Series D2 Investor (referred to as
the “Series D2 Capital Injection”), and granted the Series D2 Investor with certain preferred rights, see below (i) for
key term summary.

Series D3 financing

In April to June 2023, the Group and then existing shareholders entered into investment égreement (the “Series D3
Agreements”) with Henan Yudongnan Zhanxin Industry Venture Capital Fund Partnership, Jinan Tongxin Future
Industry Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership), Tianjin Pushu Enterprise Management Consulting
Partnership, Deyang Digital New Town Construction and Development Co., Ltd., Deyang Jinghua Industrial
Investment Development Co., Ltd., Xinxin Xiangrong Education Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. and Hangzhou
Fuyang Yaofu Equity Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)(the “Series D3 investors”), pursuant to which
the Company issued share capital of approximately RMBs5.7 million to the Series D3 investors (refer to as the “Series
D3 Capital Injection”), and granted the Series D3 investors with certain preferred rights, see below (i) for key term
summary.
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(i)

Redemption liabilities (continued)
Key terms of preferreci rights granted
Redemption right

Series Angel, Series A, Series B, Series C, Series C+, Series D, Series D1, Series D+, Series D2, Series D3 investors
have rights to require the Company to redeem their investments if (i) the Company fails to achieve a qualified Initial
Public Offering (“QIPO™), which means that the Company’s shares be listed on a well-known stock exchange
(including but not limited to Shanghai Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange, or other overseas exchanges)
before June 30, 2026; or (ii) the application of Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) is rejected by the relevant listing
regulatory authorities (including but not limited to the China Securities Regulatory Commission and the stock
exchange), but exceptions are made where the Company cannot be listed due to reasons that eannot be attributed
to the Company or its Founding Shareholders; or (iii) the certified public accountant appointed by the Company
cannot issue an unqualified audit report, making it impossible for the Company to- go public; or (iv) the chairman
or general manager of the Company are legally identified as having constituted an economic erime, and the chairman
or key individual of the Company who is served as or appointed by the Founding Shareholders has caused a
significant adverse impact on the Company.

Pursuant to the Series D3 Agreements, these preferred rights will be automatically terminated upon the Company’s
submission of the IPO prospectus to the China Securities Regulatory Commission, or any exchanges approved by
the Company’s general meeting of shareholders or the Board of Directors, and shall be immediately and
automatically reinstated and shall be deemed to have never been terminated if any of the following occurs after the
date of automatic termination:

i) The Company voluntarily withdraws its initial public offering and listing application;

ii) The Company fails to pass the review of China Securities Regulatory Commission or othe¢r stock exchange within
30 months from the date of filing the formal listing application for reasons other than the Government, or the
Company’s listing sponsor withdraws its listing sponsor;

iii) The Company has not completed the listing transaction on the stock exchange for any reason within 6 months
from the date of the IPO of its shares and the issuance approval of the China Securities Regulatory Commission or
stock exchange for its listing application. '

The redemption amount is the total amount paid by the Investors to obtain the equify interest of the Company, plus
an annual simple interest rate of 10% for a period of time commencing from certain equity delivery date stated in
the contracts to the date triggering redemption, reduce the dividends (if any) declared and paid to these the
Investors.

Anti-dilution rights

If the Company increases its share at a price lower than the price paid by the Investors on a per share basis, the
Investors have a right to require: (1) the Founding Shareholders to transfer the equity interests of the Company they
directly or indirectly held to the Investors at the lowest price allowed by the law; or (2) the Company to issue new
share for nominal consideration to the Investors; or (3) the Company or Founding Shareholders to compensate the
Investors in cash.

Presentation and classification

The redemption rights granted to the Investors constitute as the Company’s obligations to repurchase its own equity
instruments. These obligations were recognized as redemption liabilities which are initially measured at fair value
(representing the present value of the expected cash flows for settling the related obligations if these rights are
exercised by the Investors) and subsequently measured at amortized cost, Interests from the redemption liabilities
are charged in finance cost.
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(i)

(a)

(b)
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Redemption liabilities (continued)
Presentation and classification (continued)

The movements of redemption liabilities during the Track Record Period are:

RMPB’000
At January 1, 2022 1,926,270
Recognition of redemption liabilities (a) ) 10,000
Modification of redemption liabilities (b) (3,709)
Charged to finance costs 176,429
At December 31, 2022 2,108,990
At January 1, 2023 2,108,960
Recognition of redemption liabilities (a) 722,000
Modification of redemption liahilities (b} (1,379)
Charged to finance costs _ 208,845
At December 31, 2023 3,038,456
AtJanuary 1, 2024 S 3,038,456
Charged to finance costs 264,595
At December 31, 2024 3,303,051

Upon the Series D2 and D3 Capital Injection, the Investors were granted with preferred rights, including redemption
rights and other rights, and the Company recognized the redemption rights as redemption liabilities measured at
amortized cost, with a corresponding increase of treasury stock. The difference between fair value of these equities
with and without preferred rights was recognized as share-based compensation, see note 32 for detail.

As mentioned above in note (a), along with the grant of preferred rights in Series D2 Capital Injection and Series
D3 Capital Injection, the exercise date of the redemption rights of existing investors was deferred pursuit to the
renewed shareholders’ preferred right agreements and not considered as a substantial modification. The deferral of
above redemption right terms resulted in a reduction of redemption liability and a modification gain according to
IFRS 9. All investors are ordinary shareholders and the Company considered that the investor’s agreement to extend
the exercise date of the redemption option was a non reciprocal transaction which could be regarded as a transaction
where the investor is acting in their capacity as a shareholder and in substance an equity transaction. The above
modification resulted in a decrease of redemption liabilities and a modification gain which is recognized as a credit
in equity. See note 28 for reference. '

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMPB’000 RMB’o00
Derivative 667 2,383 2,370

The financial liabilities at FVPL represent derivative financial liabilities arising from anti-dilution rights (note 30(i))
granted to the Investors. The financial liabilities are measured at fair value.

The Company has adopted the interpolation method, discounted cash flow method and equity allocation model to
determine 100% of its equity value. Based on the fair value of 100% equity value, the Company has used the “with

and without” model based on a bi-nominal model to determine the fair value of anti-dilution rights.

Key assumptions used to determine the fair value of anti-dilution rights are listed in note 3.3 (a) (iii).
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(i)

Share-based compensation
2023 Empléyee Incentive Scheme

On 12 April 2023, the Company adopted the 2023 Employee Incentive Scheme through Yunsi Shangzhi (Tianjin)
Enterprise Management Consulting Partner ship (Limited Partnership) (“Yunsi Shangzhi”) and Tianjin Yunsi
Shangxin Enterprise Management Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership} (“Yunsi Shangxm”) (collectively
referred to as the “Employee Incentive Platforms”). Huang Wei, the CEO and one of the shareholders of the
Company, used his own shares as the award under 2023 Employee Incentive Scheme for granting the scheme
participants. An award under the 2023 Employee Incentive Scheme gives a scheme participant in the 2023
Employee Incentive Scheme an option (the “Options”) when granted the award to subscribe for interests in the
Employee Incentive Platforms at the consideration separately agreed in the stock incentive agreement entered into
among the Company, the General Partner and the relevant Scheme Participant. Upon becoming the limited partner
of the Employee Incentive Platforms, the selected Scheme Participants indirectly receive economic interest in the
corresponding number of underlying Shares held by the Employee Incentive Platforms. Through the 2023 Employee
Incentive Scheme, a total of 22,327 share options have been granted to the scheme participants through the
Employee Incentive Platforms, representing 60,555 shares of the Company, with an exercise price of RMB 1 Yuan.
The Options have been immediately vested upon grant date of 12 April 2023.

The share-based compensation in relation to the grant of certain preferred rights and 2024 Employee Incentive
Scheme during the Track Record Period was recorded as follows:

Years ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMB’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000

Research and development expenses (i) - 4,000 -
Selling and marketing expenses (i) - 532 -
‘ - 4,532 -

Fair value of the underlying equity of the Company and share optlons

The Company has adopted the equity allocation model to determine the fair value of the underlymg equity of the
Company, and recognized share-based compensation in relation to the grant of certain preferred rights based on the
fair value of the underlying equity. The Company has used the Binomial option-pricing model to determine the fair
value of the share options based on the fair value of the underlying equity of the Company as at the grant date. Key
assumptions are set out below:

As at April 12, 2023
Fair value of per share options (RMB Yuan) 74.8
Exercise price (RMB Yuan) ’ 1.0
Risk—ffee interest rate 1.8%-2.5%
Dividend yield -
Expected volatility 40.4%-54.5%

_72_



33 Trade and other payﬁbles

The Group As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMB’oo0
Trade payables
- - Amounts due to third parties 156,482 135,857 164,766
Tax payables 3,880 5,112 12,954
Other payables:
- Listing expenses ' 6,910 14,303 26,806
- Technology service fees 20,187 20,906 23,764
-.Deposits 8oy 800 779
- Borrowing from sales and leaseback - 1,000 -
- Others 4,516 3,477 3,796
. 192,782 181,455 232,895
(a) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be approximate to their fair values, due to their
short-term nature. As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the carrying amounts of trade and other payables were
all denominated in RMB.
() Aging analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date at the end of each reporting period are as follows:
As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB'oo0 RMB’000 RMPB’000
Up to 1 year 94,067 81,486 109,792
1to 2 years S 56,452 16,226 21,610
Over 2 years 5,963 38,145 33,394
156,482 135,857 164,796
The Company ' . As at December 31,
2022 " 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMB’000 RME’000
Trade payables
- Amounts due to third parties . 25,985 25,020 64,349
Tax payables 793 1,053 8,582
Other payables : .
- Amounts due to subsidiaries 28,004 2,151 58,619
- Listing expenses 6,010 14,303 26,8006
- Technology service fees 17,894 16,638 18,774
- Deposits - - 120
- Borrowing from sales and leaseback - 167 -
- Others 1,640 1,201 1,458
81,226 60,533 178,708
(a) The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be approximated to their fair values, due to

their short-term nature. As at December 31 2022, 2023 and 2024, the carrying amounts of trade and other payables
were all denominated in RMB.
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Trade and other payables (continued)
The Company (continued)

Aging analysis of the trade payables based on invoice date at the end of each reporting period are as follows:

As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMPB’000
Up to 1 year 15,244 17,252 56,338
1to 2 years 9,747 3,281 1,733
Over 2 years 994 ' 4,487 6,278
' 25,985 25,020 64,349

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities

Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the tax rates
at which are expected to be applied at the time of reversal of the temporary differences.

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:

As at December 31,

2022 - 2023 2024
" RMB’000 RMB’o000 RMB’o00

Deferred tax assets: .

- to be recovered after 12 months 4,389 4,820 5,516

- to be recovered within 12 months 480 630 1,514
Offset by deferred tax liabilities (4,470) (5,397) {6,735)
Net deferred income tax assets 300 53 205
Deferred tax liabilities:

- to be recovered after 12 months (3,075) (4,555} (5,527)

- to be recovered within 12 months (1,395) (842) (1,208)
Offset by deferred income tax assets 4,470 5,397 6,735

Net deferred income tax liabilities - - -
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities (continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities during the Track Record Period

are as follows:

As at January 1, 2022

. Credit/(charged) to profit or

loss

As at December 31, 2022

(Charged)/credit to profit or
loss

As at December 31, 2023

Credit/(charged) to profit or
loss

As at December 31, 2024

Salary and welfare payables

The Group

Wages, salaries and bonuses
Pension costs (i}

Other social security costs (i)
Housing funds
Others

The Company

Wages, salaries and bonuses
Pension costs (i)

Other social security costs (i)
Housing funds
Others

Deferred
tax
liabilities -
Deferred Investments
Deferred tax measured at
tax assets - Deferred Iiabilities - fair value
Lease  taxassets - Right-of-use  through profit
liabilities tax loss assets or loss Total
RMPB’000 RMPB’000 RMRB’000 RMB’o00 RMPB’oo00
2,287 2,862 (2,110} (2,862) 177
50 {(330) 172 330 200
2,337 2,532 (1,938) (2,532) 399
(575) 1,156 229 (1,156} (346)
1,762 3,688 {1,709) (3,688) 53
614 966 (372) (966) 242
2,376 4,654 (2,081) (4,654} 205
As at December 31,
zo22 2023 2024
RMB’o00 RMB’000 RMPB’000
8,028 9,182 9.475
6,060 1,960 2,074
4,436 956 978
274 556 544
3,268 2,579 1,981
22,966 15,233 15,052
As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMPB’oo0 RMB’oo0
4,249 4,631 4,782
5,912 1,069 1,138
1,809 522 556
42 69 70
1,831 1,134 1,088
13,843 7,425 7,634
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(a)

(b)

Salary and welfare payables (continued)

In 2022, the government announced the {Circular on Issues Related to Temporary Suspension of Social Insurance
Premiums} (G&FRy B EALE (R 5278 22 iR ), pursuant to which the Company applied for holdover on
payment of such social securities. The accrued but not paid ameount is RMB 6.9 million as at December 31, 2022,
which has been fully paid as of December 31, 2023.

Other non-current liabilities

The Group : As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMPB’oo0 RMB’oo0 RMB’o00
Provisions ' 640 1,434 7,060
Deferred government grants (a) 44,393 25,000 22,565
45,033 26,434 29,625

The Company As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’o000 RMB’o00 RMB’000
Provisions 160 341 5,433
Deferred government grants (a) 23,497 0,817 8,542
23,657 10,158 13,975

The Group received government grants from local governments as support for research and development expenses
relating to innovation activities.

Borrowings
As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMEB’000 RMEB’000 RMB’o000
Bank loans, secured (a) - 40,000 50,000
Unsecured bank loans 35,000 25,000 60,000
Borrowings from discounted notes receivable (b) - - 35,378
35,000 65,000 145,378

As at December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows:

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024
RMP’o00 RMB’o00 RMB’000
Within 1 year 35,000 65,000 145,378

The weighted average effective interest rate of bank loans for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024
was 4.0%, 4.0% and 3.4% per annum, respectively.

The secured bank loans were amounted to RMB50 million as at December 31, 2024, of which RMB45 million was
secured by the credit of the Group, RMB5 million was secured by the assets by a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the borrowings generated from discounted notes receivable to a bank were amounted to
RMB35.4 million.
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(b)

Commitments
Capital commitments

On April 25, 2023, the Group entered into an agreement with Jinan Supercomputing Industry Development Co.,
LTD ((Ea#EE EESRATRAT) to acquire office space in National Supercomputing Center-Jinan Science Park
(B 2238 Byl b o Rl ) for an estimated cash consideration between RMBgo million and RMB100 ‘million.
Pursuant to this agreement, as of December 31, 2023 and 2024, the Company had accumulatively paid RMB47.4
million, representing approximately 50% of total expected purchase consideration. On May 27, 2024, the two parties
entered into a supplemental agreement to pay the residual amounts before September 30, 2025.

On January 9, 2024, a subsidiary of the Group, Yunzhisheng (Xinyang) Digital Technology Co., Ltd.(ZER({EF5)
Wy == R4 PR 4 B]) and Xinyang Huaxin Construction Investment Henan Southeast Development and Construction
Co., Ltd (E55EE B AR E M B ERERAF) jointly invested to establish Xinyang Huayun Industrial Park
Construction Co., Lid.(EBE T A LB EEHE R A T) and promised to contribute RMB 10 million in cash
according to Articles of association, representing 5% of the shareholding. The Group has invested RMB 2.3 million,
which was accounted for as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as of December 31, 2024.

Lease commitments -

Certain lease arrangements were contracted before year-end while the related lease commencement date is in the
following year. As the underlying assets were not available for use by the Company and the Company cannot control
the related assets before the lease commencement date, hence no right-of-use and lease liabilities are recorded at

year-end before the lease commencement.

Such lease commitments at the end of each reporting period but not recognized as liabilities is as follows:

As at December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMEB'oo0’ RMPB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 year 1,987 - 533
After 1 year but within 2 years 1,908 - 336
After 2 years but within 3 years 1,169 - 421
After 3 years but within 4 years 940 - 481
Afters years but within 5 years 1,011 - 200
Total 7,105 - 1,071

For other lease arrangements which have been in use or control before the year-end, the Company records them as
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities accordingly.
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Related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members of key management and their close family
members of the Group are also considered as related parties.

The following transactions were carried out between the Group and its related parties during the years presented.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related parties.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management includes director and senior officers. The compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Year ended December 31,

2022 2023 2024

RMPE’000 RMB’oo0 RMPB’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses 7,740 8,438 9,478
Pension costs 664 721 756
Housing benefits 412 503 528
Other social security costs 457 445 464
9,273 10,107 11,226
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40 Cash flow information
(a) Cash used in operations

Reconciliation of loss for the year to cash used in operations:

Note Year ended December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMB’000 RMP’000 RMB’000
Loss before income tax: (375.580) (373,589) (454,373)
Adjustments for: .
Depreciation and amortization 9 22,240 19,876 25,849
Share-based compensation 32 - 4,532 -
Share of profit of associates 13 (1,092) 2,617 -
Net fair value losses on financial liabilities at fair ,
value through profit or loss a1 35 731 (13)
Net fair value losses/(gains) on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss 25 347 (12,018) 7,495
Net impairment losses on financial assets and
contract assets recognized in profit or loss 3 71,976 91,346 48,438
Finance costs — net 11 177,361 210,895 268,645
Net impairment losses on inventories 24 3,170 3,606 {987)
Disposal loss of property and eguipment 33 135 ‘ . 27
Disposal gains of right-of-use assets - (438) 745
Exchange gains . (244) 252 35
Change in working capital:
- Inventories 10,058 (37,845) (71,452)
- Trade receivables (176,042) (133,367) (197,014)
- Contract assets 1,524 {432} (403)
- Prepayment and other receivables 2,888 (34,063) (23,267)
- Trade and other payables 63,929 (12,734) 52,957
- Salary and welfare payable 9,944 (7,733) (181)
- Contract liabilities 17,896 8,927 21,461
- Lease receivables 2,077 3,235 2,069
- Other non-current liabilities 2,630 (18,599) 3,191
Cash used in operations {165,941) (284,666) (316,778)
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(b}

]

Cash flow information (continued)
Non-cash investing and financing activities
The major non-cash investing and financing activities during the Track Record Period mainly include (i) the right-

of-use assets obtained in exchange for the lease liabilities as described in note 17, and (ii) interest expense on
redemption liabilities charged to finance costs as described in note 30.

Net debt reconciliation
As at December 31,
2022 2023 2024
RMPB’000 RMPB’000 RMPE’000
Cash and cash equivalents 74,118 379,224 156,476
Wealth management products at fair value through
profit or loss - 69,010 -
Redemption liabilities (2,108,990) (3,038,456} (3,303,051)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (667) (2,383) {2,370)
Borrowings {35,000) (65,000) (145,378)
Other payable-borrowing from sales and leaseback - (1,000) -
Lease liabilities ' (18,767) {9,598) (18,248)

Net debt _ (2,089,306} (2,668,203) (3,312,571)

*The Company defines its net debt as cash and cash equivalents plus wealth management products at FVPL, minus
financial liabilities at FVPL, redemption liabilities, borrowing and lease liabilities at each year,
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41 Benefits and interests of directors (continued)

(a} Directors’ emoluments (continued)

) Mr. Liang Jiaen was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
(ii) Mr. Huang Wei was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
(i) Mr. Kang Heng was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
(iv) Mr. Li Xiaohaﬂ was appointed as a airector with effect from June 10, 2019,

(v) Mr. Liu Shengping was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
(vi) Mr. Li Peng was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019,

(vii) Mr Kuang Ziping was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.

(iil)  Zhou Jiong was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019 and resigned on December 20, 2023,

(ix) Li Zhichao was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
(x) Wang Cunfu was appointed as a director with effect from April 12, 2023.
(xi) Liang Xiaodong was appointed as a director with effect from May 15, 2021 and resigned on June 8, 2023.

(i) Ma Jingxian was appointed as a director with effect from March 2021 and resigned on April 12, 2023.
(xiii) Li Xiaogiang was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019 and resigned on March 29, 2021.

-~

(xiv} Wang Yazhuo was appointed as a director with effect from December 20, 2023 and resigned on December 31,
2024 and Li Ang was appointed as a director with effect from March 12, 2025.

xv) Hu Jianjun was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.

(o) Fan Jian was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.

(xvii)  Jin Huihua was appointed as a director with effect from June 23, 2023.

(xviii) Zhang Kun was appointed as a director with effect from June 23, 2023.

(xix) Chen Hua was appointed as a director with effect from June 23, 2023.

(xx) Liui Ming was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019 and resigned on March 29, 2021.

(xxd) Zhao Hongfei was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019 and resigned on January 25, 2022.
(xxii)  Tu Lingce was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019 and resigned on December 31, 2021.
(xxiii) Shan Bo was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.

(xxiv) Ren He was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.

(xxv) Hong Zhao was appointed as a director with effect from June 10, 2019.
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Benefits and interests of directors {continued)
Directors’ retirement and termination benefits

No retirement or termination benefits have been paid to the Company’s directors for the years ended December 31,
2022, 2023 and 2024,

Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to third parties for making available directors’ services during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Information about loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entilies with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans or other dealings were entered into by the Company in favour of directors, controlled bodies

* corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the years or at any time during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.

Contingencies

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2024.

Dividend

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company or the companies now comprising the Group during each of
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2023 and 2024.
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